2005

Michelle Samantha Gatlin Nolan, Successor  
Trustee of the Malualani B. Hoopiiianina Trust aka  
the Larayne J. Hartman Trust, and Michelle  
Samantha Gatlin Nolan, individually v. Cuma  
Hoopiiianina, Personal Representative of the Estate  
of Malualani B. Hoopiiaina, Cuma S. Hoopiiaina,  
individually, Marlin M. Forsyth, individually,  
George K. Fadel, individually, Michael Gatlin,  
individually, Michael Gatlin, IFG Resources Inc.,  
Lisa Goodwill, John Doe's 1 through 10 : Brief of  
Appellant

Original Brief Submitted to the Utah Court of Appeals; digitized by the Howard W. Hunter Law

## **JURISDICTION**

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2, this action having come to the Supreme Court from the summary judgment granted to Defendants Hoopiiaina and Forsyth (hereinafter “Appellants”) by Judge Anthony Quinn of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4), the Supreme Court transferred the case to the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals issued its opinion on June 16, 2005, reversing the ruling of the trial court. Appellants filed a Motion for Writ of Certiorari which was granted by this Court on September 21, 2005. Therefore, this Court retains its jurisdiction over this case pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(a).

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Whether Appellees’ quiet title action is subject to applicable statutes of limitations. “When exercising our certiorari jurisdiction, we review the decision of the court of appeals and not that of the trial court.” *Longley v. Leucadia Fin. Corp.*, 2000 UT 69, ¶13, 9 P.3d 762. “On certiorari, we review the decision of the court of appeals for correctness.” *Brookside Mobile Home Park, Ltd. v. Peebles*, 2002 UT 48, P11, 48 P.3d 968.

## **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES REQUIRING INTERPRETATION**

### **UTAH STATUTES:**

78-40-1. Action to determine adverse claim to property - Authorized.

An action may be brought by any person against another who claims an

estate or interest in real property or an interest or claim to personal property adverse to him, for the purpose of determining such adverse claim.

75-3-1006. Limitations on actions and proceedings against distributees.

(1) Unless previously adjudicated in a formal testacy proceeding or in a proceeding settling the accounts of a personal representative or otherwise barred, the claim of any claimant to recover from a distributee who is liable to pay the claim, and the right of any heir or devisee or of a successor personal representative acting in their behalf, to recover property improperly distributed or the value thereof from any distributee is barred at the later of:

(a) as to a claim by a creditor of the decedent, one year after the decedent's death; and

(b) as to any other claimant and any heir or devisee, at the later of:

(i) three years after the decedent's death; or

(ii) one year after the time of distribution thereof.

(2) This section does not bar an action to recover property or value received as the result of fraud.

78-12-19. Actions to recover estate sold by executor or administrator.

No action for the recovery of any estate sold by an executor or administrator in the course of any probate proceeding can be maintained by any heir or other person claiming under the decedent, unless it is commenced within three years next after such sale. An action to set aside the sale may be instituted and maintained at any time within three years from the discovery of the fraud or other lawful grounds upon which the action is based.

78-12-25. Within four years.

An action may be brought within four years:

(1) upon a contract, obligation, or liability not founded upon an instrument in writing; also on an open account for goods, wares, and merchandise, and for any article charged on a store account; also on an open account for work, labor or services rendered, or materials furnished; provided, that action in all of the foregoing cases may be commenced at any time within four years after the last charge is made or the last payment is received;

(2) for a claim for relief or a cause of action under the following sections of Title 25, Chapter 6, Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act:

(a) Subsection 25-6-5(1)(a), which in specific situations limits the time

- for action to one year, under Section 25-6-10;
- (b) Subsection 25-6-5(1)(b); or
- (c) Subsection 25-6-6(1);
- (3) for relief not otherwise provided for by law.

## **UTAH COURT RULES:**

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 56. Summary judgment.

(b) *For defending party.* A party against whom a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim is asserted or a declaratory judgment is sought, may, at any time, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his favor as to all or any part thereof.

(c) *Motion and proceedings thereon.* The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be filed and served in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. NATURE OF THE CASE**

Plaintiffs filed a quiet title action in an attempt to acquire title and possession of real property owned by Defendants. Defendants filed a quiet title counterclaim to eliminate Plaintiffs' claims. This case was consolidated with a probate action prosecuted by Plaintiffs to name a successor trustee and attempt to convey the real property to Plaintiffs.

### **B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS**

In the trial court, Defendant, Cuma Hoopiiaina, individually and as personal representative of the estate of Malualani B. Hoopiiaina, and Defendant Marlin Forsyth filed

a motion for summary judgment which was heard before the Honorable Judge Anthony Quinn on November 26, 2003. The Honorable Judge Anthony Quinn granted Defendants' motion for summary judgment ruling that the statute of limitations barred Plaintiffs' claims and dismissed the Plaintiffs' cause of action. This ruling was appealed by Plaintiffs to the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals reversed, holding that the statute of limitations did not apply to quiet title actions and that the trustor of a trust may not breach the trust. Defendants filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari, which was granted by the Supreme Court on September 21, 2005. This appeal is now pending before the Supreme Court of Utah.

### **C. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. On April 10, 1974 Malualani B. Hoopiiaina ("Malu") executed two trust agreements relating to real property located at 345 West 700 South and 349 West 700 South, Salt Lake City, Utah ("Property") and naming himself, his daughter Inez Gatlin, and LaRayne J. Harman and Donald Hartman as trustees. These trust documents were recorded in the Salt Lake County Recorder's office on April 18, 1974. The beneficiaries of these trusts were LaRayne J. Harman and Donald Hartman, respectively, and the remainder beneficiaries were Malu's daughter, Inez Gatlin, and her children, Plaintiffs Samantha Gatlin and Michael Gatlin ("Plaintiffs"). (R. 12-15, 37-40).

2. On many occasions, Malu told his granddaughter Samantha, that she, her mother, and her brother would receive the Property represented by the trusts. In the Affidavit

of Samantha Gatlin she states:

11. That affiant's grandfather, Malualani B. Hoopiiaina, had on many occasions advised affiant that affiant's mother, affiant, and affiant's brother were the beneficiaries of a Trust as to the above-described real property located at 349 West 700 South, Salt Lake City, Utah, as described above.

(R. 397, 378, ¶11)

3. From the time Samantha was a young girl, she was told by her mother that she and her brother Michael were beneficiaries of trusts established by her grandfather, Malu.

(R. 397).

4. Both Samantha and Michael knew that their grandfather owned the land at 349 West 700 South and 345 West 700 South, Salt Lake City, Utah. (R. 397).

5. Inez Gatlin died on April 24, 1996. (R. 399, 299). Malu died on May 20, 1997. (R. 397). Malu was the last living trustee of the trusts.

6. Prior to the time that Samantha received notice of the probate proceeding relating to her grandfather's death, Samantha went to the county clerk's office and received a copy of the holographic will that was on file there. (R. 398).

7. When Samantha realized that she had been written out of the will and that the will made no reference to the trust, she contacted and met with Phil Dyer, an attorney in Salt Lake City. At the meeting with Mr. Dyer, Samantha spoke to him about the trusts as well as the will. (R. 398).

8. At the time of the probate hearing on her grandfather's will, on June 25, 1997,

Samantha appeared before the probate court and voiced her objection to the proceedings. After a discussion with Mr. Fadel, the attorney for Malu's estate, Samantha returned with Mr. Fadel to the judge's chambers and waived her objection. (R. 398).

9. Despite the proceeding at the probate court, Samantha still believed that there was a trust in which she had an interest and that nothing had changed. (R. 398).

10. Plaintiff Michael Gatlin also learned that he was not going to receive any of the Property he had been promised. On or about July 7, 1997, Michael called George Fadel concerning notice of his grandfather's death and the trusts and was informed that he would not be receiving any of the Property that he believed he had been promised. Thereafter, George Fadel sent a copy of the will to Michael. Michael then called Mr. Fadel and asked again about the trusts and was told that he would not receive any Property. (R. 299, 302).

11. This action was brought before the Third Judicial District Court on October 10, 2002. (R. 1).

12. Malu's holographic will, dated March 6, 1996, was found to be Malu's last will and testament. Samantha sought and acquired a copy of the will from the court clerk's office. (R. 398).

13. The codicils of the holographic will states:

Codicil -

My daughter Inez Gatlin having died, I remove all provisions for Inez and her children.

May 23, 1996.

/s/Malualani B. Hoopiaina.

Codicil -

Marlin Forsyth to share in the 349 West properties 700 South with his mother Cuma equally (50-50). Marlin will receive apartment # 10 Casa de Encidero, Hawaii, free and clear and unit # 106 will be free and clear to mother Cuma.

(R. 399).

14. When Samantha read the will and realized that she had been written out of the will, she cried. (R. 399).

15. Samantha does not believe that George Fadel intended to misrepresent anything relating to the trust agreement. In her Deposition she states:

Q. Do you have any information that leads you to conclude or believe that George Fadel intended to misrepresent to you anything relating to the trust agreements you seek to enforce in this lawsuit?

Mr. Olsen: I have no objection to that.

The Witness: That he purposefully?

Q. (By Mr. Gibbs) Um - hum.

A. No, I think what he told me at the probate hearing, I believe he was very sincere.

(R. 399).

16. In Malu's probate proceeding, Defendant Cuma Hoopiiaina, personal representative, conveyed the Property pursuant to probate court order to Malu's heirs. (R. 22-24, 41-43)

17. Cuma Hoopiiaina was not aware of the of the April 18, 1974 trusts executed by Malu. (R. 460, p. 12)

18. George Fidel was a defendant in this action but was voluntarily dismissed by Plaintiffs on October 9, 2003. (R. 228).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

The Court of Appeals erred in holding that in a quiet title action the statute of limitations does not apply. The logical extension of this argument negates the statute of limitations in quiet title actions. The Court of Appeals ignored this Court's precedent in making this ruling, because the statute of limitations does apply if the parties seek affirmative relief when filing their quiet title action. In this case, the Respondents prayed for affirmative relief, including placing their name on title, invalidating the title of Appellants, terminating a lis pendens, and seeking possession of the Property. Respondents' remedies reflect their pursuit of affirmative relief, which subjects their claims to the statute of limitations. Because the statute of limitations is applicable to Respondents' claims, the Court of Appeals decision should be reversed.

The Court of Appeals erred in holding that a beneficiary's claim to enforce a trust is not subject to the statute of limitations because the trustee can only treat the trust property pursuant to the terms of the trust. This holding denies the applicability of the doctrines of breach and repudiation of the trusts by the trustee. When a trustee breaches or repudiates the trust and treats the trust property as his own, the beneficiary's claim is subject to a statute of limitations. Because the Court of Appeals failed to impose the applicable statute of limitations on Respondents' claims, its decision should be reversed.

**ARGUMENT**  
**THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS APPLIES TO THIS ACTION**

**A. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS APPLIES TO QUIET TITLE ACTIONS**

In *Nolan v. Hoopiaina*, 2005 UT App 272, ¶ 18, the Court of Appeals’ decision below held that Respondents’ action against Appellants was not time barred despite quoting *Branting v. Salt Lake City*, 47 Utah 296, 153 P. 995, 1001 (1915), which holds that the statute of limitations applies if Respondents’ seek “affirmative relief” in their quiet title action:

. . . actions by which nothing is sought except to remove a cloud from or to quiet title to real property as against apparent or stale claims are not barred by the statute of limitations, yet we are also clear that all actions in which the principle purpose is to obtain some affirmative relief . . . come within the [statute of limitations] . . .

Despite citing *Branting*, the Court of Appeals never addressed what constitutes “apparent or stale claims” or “affirmative relief” or how those standards should be applied.

The Court of Appeals held that no statute of limitations applied in this case since a quiet title action “. . . is premised upon the fact that a quiet title action, as its name connotes, is one to quiet an existing title . . . and not one brought to establish title. . . . [T]he effect of a decree quieting title is not to *vest* title but rather to *perfect* an existing title.” *Id.* at ¶ 18 (citing *State ex rel. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Santiago*, 590 P.2d 335, 337-38 (Utah 1979)). In entering its decision, the Court of Appeals, without elaboration, equates an action to “perfect an existing title” with an action eliminating “apparent or stale claims.” *Id.* The ruling ignores the “affirmative relief” standard and essentially finds that as long as a claim is

brought as a “quiet title action,” that no statute of limitations will apply.

To assess the “affirmative relief” standard, a review of the facts of *Branting* and subsequent rulings citing *Branting* is helpful. In *Branting*, Salt Lake City ordered the construction of a sewer and a special tax was assessed to each of the benefitting property owners. After the sewer was constructed, the tax was assessed that constituted a lien on Branting’s property. Branting brought an action against Salt Lake City to have the tax assessment invalidated, remove the cloud on his title, and quiet title in his property. The *Branting* court held that Branting sought affirmative relief by filing a quiet title action which sought court assistance in declaring that the tax levied against Branting’s property was void and of no effect. Having determined that Branting had sought “affirmative relief,” the court held that because he had not brought his action to challenge the city’s right to assess the tax within four years, the statute of limitations had expired and his claim was barred.

The Utah Supreme Court relied on the “affirmative relief” standard of *Branting* when deciding *Daidsen v. Salt Lake City*, 95 Utah 347, 81 P.2d 374, 376 (1938). In *Daidsen*, plaintiff tendered land to the defendant city upon the condition that the city would make certain improvements to the property, including the installation of a sidewalk and curb and gutter. When the city refused to perform the improvements, plaintiff filed action to have the deed set aside because of fraud. The Utah Supreme Court held that seeking to have the deed to property invalidated, set aside, and possession delivered to plaintiff constituted “affirmative relief”:

This court has also held that, although actions by which nothing is sought except to remove a cloud from or to quiet the title to real property as against apparent or stale claims are not barred by the statute of limitations, yet the statute [of limitations] does apply to actions in which the principal purpose is to obtain some affirmative relief. *Branting v. Salt Lake City*, 47 Utah 296, 153 P. 995. . . . Plaintiff here asks for affirmative relief other than removal of a cloud on his title. He is not in possession of the land. He asks that a deed which he executed to defendant be cancelled for fraud.

Based on its finding that Davidsen sought “affirmative relief,” the court held that his claim was barred by the statute of limitations.

The Utah Supreme Court again implemented the “affirmative relief” standard in *Dow v. Gilroy*, 910 P.2d 1249, 1252 (Utah App. 1996), by stating that “[a] statute [of limitations] ‘applied to all actions, both legal and equitable, in which affirmative relief is sought.’” (quoting *American Tierra Corp. v. City of West Jordan*, 840 P.2d 757, 760 (Utah 1992)). The court in *Dow* held that as long as affirmative relief was sought by a party to an action, then a statute of limitations applies. Therefore, only the quiet title cases seeking to eliminate “apparent or stale claims” are not subject to a statute of limitations.

The term “affirmative relief” connotes a pending action which seeks some relief from the court, whether embodied in a complaint or counterclaim. “Affirmative relief” is a claim that can be raised and pursued independent of the claim made by the opposing party. “Affirmative relief” is not in the manner of offset, recoupment, contribution, or indemnity, but seeks assistance from the court in righting an asserted wrong. *Sharon Steel Corporation v. Aetna Casualty and Surety Company*, 931 P.2d 127, 132 (1997). The Utah Supreme Court has

... distinguished between ... counterclaims and cross-claims "wherein the defendant seeks to reduce the amount a plaintiff can recover, such as by recoupment, contribution, or indemnity, and those wherein the defendant is seeking affirmative relief." *United States ex rel. Bros. Builders Supply Co. v. Old World Artisans, Inc.*, 702 F. Supp. 1561, 1569-70 (N.D. Ga. 1988); *see also Appelbaum v. Ceres Land Co.*, 546 F. Supp. 17, 20 (D. Minn. 1981), *aff'd*, 687 F.2d 261 (8th Cir. 1982); *State ex rel. Egeland v. City Council*, 245 Mont. 484, 803 P.2d 609, 613 (Mont. 1990). ... [W]here the defendant's claim is an "affirmative independent cause of action not in the nature of a defensive claim," then the claim must be filed within the applicable statutory period. *Old World Artisans*, 702 F. Supp. at 1569.

*Id.* *See also, Crystal Lime & Cement Co. v. Robbins*, 8 Utah 2d 389, 393, 335 P.2d 624, 626 (1959)(holding that an "... action asking that title be quieted in them and also asking that in the event title was not quieted in them that appellant herein be required to reimburse them the amounts they expended for taxes. [S]uch [is] affirmative relief ..."); *Logan City v. Utah Power & Light Co.*, 86 Utah 354, 356, 44 P.2d 698 (1935)(cancellation of a contract is affirmative relief); *Battle Creek Bread Wrapping Mach. Co. v. Paramount Baking Co.*, 88 Utah 67, 74, 39 P.2d 323, 326 (1934)("... affirmative relief may consist of a claim or claims in the nature of a lien upon the property the plaintiff seeks to recover.") "Affirmative relief," therefore, is any requested or prescribed remedy sought by a party which is not in the nature of recoupment, contribution, setoff, or indemnity.

In the case at bar, Respondents sought "affirmative relief" when they asked the trial court to validate their title to the Property, declare their title superior to that of Appellants, invalidate the Deed of Distribution conveying the Property from Malu's estate to Appellants, terminate the lis pendens filed by Appellants, invalidate the existing lease on the Property,

and grant Respondents possession to the Property. (R. 132) Since Respondents sought “affirmative relief” in their petition, Respondents’ claims are subject to the statute of limitations.

There have been no definitive definitions of what constitutes “apparent or stale claims.” In *Branting*, “apparent or stale claims” are those claims not subject to the statute of limitations. The dissent in *Nolan*, 2005 UT App. 272 (Judge Jackson), asserted that the determination of whether an action is “against apparent or stale claims” depends on whether there exists “an active battle between adverse parties.” *Id.* at ¶30. Judge Jackson concludes that “[i]n *Branting* itself and all of the cases that *Branting* cites on this point, the courts concluded that the parties sought affirmative relief where there were active, adverse claimants.” *Id.* Therefore, where adverse claimants seek an interest in property, there is likely to be an active battle between adverse parties. Conversely, apparent and stale claims are likely not to have adverse parties that seek an interest in property. For example, mortgages that are unenforceable because of the expiration of the statute of limitations may constitute “apparent and stale claims.” There is not likely to be a mortgage company seeking to enforce a mortgage that is unenforceable under the statute of limitations. As such, there would be no statute of limitations applicable to an action to remove such a mortgage from the title of property.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> In the modern real estate sales practice, actions to remove expired mortgages from the titles of real property are rare. Title companies, which insure the transactions between buyer and seller and the condition of real property titles, recognize that stale

In the case at bar, Appellants and Respondents were energetically engaged in litigation to establish the validity of their claims. Appellants were “active, adverse claimants” of the Respondents. Therefore, the Respondents’ claims were not “against apparent or stale claims” and the statute of limitations is applicable.

The Court of Appeals ruling in *Nolan* failed to recognize that the statute of limitations was applicable to cases where “affirmative relief” was sought. The Court of Appeals failed to address whether Respondents’ claims were “against apparent and stale claims” or whether they sought “affirmative relief.” Based on the “affirmative relief” standard, Respondents sought “affirmative relief” in their claims against Appellants. Thus, Respondents’ claims are subject to the statute of limitations.

As a result of the analysis of the “affirmative relief” standard and the “apparent and stale claims” standard, the statute of limitations is applicable to Respondents’ claims in this action. This Court should therefore reverse the Court of Appeals decision.

**B. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS APPLIES IN CASES WHERE TRUSTEE OF AN IRREVOCABLE TRUST BREACHES HIS TRUST**

In *Nolan v. Hoopiaina*, 2005 UT App 272, the Court of Appeals’ decision below held that no statute of limitations applied to Respondents’ claims since the settlor and trustee of the trusts, Malu:

. . . had no power to revoke the trusts and could deal with the trusts’ assets

---

mortgages are not encumbrances to title and the title companies simply insure that the title of real property is free and clear of expired mortgages.

only as provided in the trust instruments. Further, the beneficiaries had equitable title to the trusts' assets because the trust instruments provided no means for the trustees to take or transfer those assets from the beneficiaries without their consent.

*Id.* at ¶ 15. The Court of Appeals ignored Appellants' claim that Malu repudiated and breached the trusts by exercising dominion over the Property as if it were his own. Appellants further argued that when Malu repudiated and breached the trusts, the statutes of limitations applied. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to consider Appellants' claims of repudiation and breach of the trusts and in failing to impose the statute of limitations on Respondents' claims for possession to the Property.

The doctrines of breach and repudiation of the trusts are viable defenses asserted by Appellants. In his dissent, Judge Jackson, stated that the majority opinion had disregarded these doctrines of trust law:

The main opinion concludes that Malu "could not transfer the property in the trusts, as a trustee, other than as directed in the trusts." This evades the well-established principle that a trustee can breach the trust, thereby triggering the statute of limitations. *See* 90 C.J.S. *Trusts* § 125 (2002) ("The trust relationship may continue until it is terminated by a repudiation by the trustee . . ."); 76 Am Jur. 2d *Trusts* 654 (2005)(stating that the statute of limitations is tolled only "until the trustee openly repudiates the trust"). The United States Supreme Court and Utah's courts have both long recognized this rule. *See, Hammond v. Hopkins*, 143 U.S. 224, 252 (1892) ("[W]here a trustee [breaches the trust], the cestuis que trust are entitled to [take action] subject to the qualifications that the application for such relief must be made within reasonable time . . ."); *Philippi v. Philippe*, 115 U.S. 151, 157 (1885) ("[W]hen the trust is repudiated by . . . the trustee who claims to hold the trust property as his own, . . . statute of limitations will begin to run."); *Wasden v. Coltharp*, 631 P.2d 849, 851 (Utah 1981) (per curiam) ("Where the trustee denies the obligation of his trust and the beneficiary has notice of his repudiation, the statute begins to run."); *Thomas v. Glendinning*, 13 Utah 47,

56, 44 P, 652, 654 (1896) (“[W]hen the trustee denies the trust and assumes ownership of the trust property, . . . then the statute of limitations attaches.”); *Wood v. Fox*, 8 Utah 380, 32 P. 48, 52 (1893) (“The law is that the statute of limitations begins to run against a claim growing out of a trust from the time the trustee repudiates the trust and the cestui que trust has notice.”).

*Id.* at ¶ 29. The trustee’s repudiation and breach of the trusts triggers the application of the statute of limitations to Respondents’ claims. The Court of Appeals decision failed to even address these doctrines and failed to impose the statute of limitations on Respondents’ claims.

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