2005

Michelle Samantha Gatlin Nolan, Successor
Trustee of the Malualani B Hoopiiaina Trust,
Michelle Samantha Gatlin Nolan, individually, and
Michael Gatlin, individually v. Cuma S
Hoopiiainina, Personal Representative of the Estate
of Malualani B Hoopiiaina, Cuma S Hoopiiaina,
individually, Marlin M Forsyth, individually,
George K Fadel, individually, Michael Gatlin, ISG
Resources Inc, Lisa Goodwill, John Doe's 1 thru 10
: Brief of Appellee

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

ARGUMENT

THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DOES NOT APPLY TO QUIET TITLE ACTIONS.

Appellants' argument that Plaintiffs sought "affirmative relief" is erroneous. Plaintiffs requested the Court to determine that the two Trusts dated April 10, 1974, were irrevocable, that Plaintiff Michelle Samantha Gatlin Nolan should be appointed Successor Trustee, and that the Personal Representative Deeds and Lis Pendens filed by Cuma Hoopiiaina should be determined void.

Certiorari was not granted on the issue of the two Trusts being valid. Accordingly, it is a factual and legal conclusion that the property had been in the name of a valid irrevocable trust since April 10, 1974, and that the beneficiaries of the Trust were entitled to the property at the time Plaintiff Michelle Samantha Gatlin Nolan turned 21 years of age. This occurred several years prior to recording the void Personal Representative Deeds in 1997 by Cuma Hoopiiaina, which upon discovery by Plaintiffs in August of 2002 were apparent or stale claims. Plaintiffs requested a determination that the real property was owned in fee by the two Irrevocable Trusts, that the beneficiaries of the two Trusts be determined to be the fee owners of the real property, and that Plaintiff Nolan be appointed the Successor Trustee of the two Irrevocable Trusts.

The Court of Appeals stated:

Malu's bequeathal of the property to Cuma and Cuma's subsequent transfer of the property to herself and her son were void and of no effect. Nolan v. Hoopiiaina, 2005 UT App 272, ¶16.

Based upon the above ruling by the Court of Appeals, the Personal Representative Deeds are void and of no effect. The issue of whether Plaintiffs' claims were a Quiet Title Action is now

moot in that the Court of Appeals ruled that the Trust was the fee owner of the two Trust properties and that Plaintiffs were the beneficiaries of the Trust. Plaintiff, Michelle Samantha Gatlin Nolan, should be appointed Successor Trustee, and the Personal Representative Deeds filed against the property by Appellants were void and it was therefore not necessary for any further ruling as to a Quiet Title action. The Court of Appeals did, however, rule that the statute of limitations did not apply to quiet title actions and left open the question of statute of limitations that may apply in relation to Third, Fourth and Fifth Causes of actions in Plaintiffs' Complaint concerning an accounting and personal property which had been sold or removed from the Trusts.

The two (2) parcels of real property were conveyed to the two Trusts by Malualani Hoopiiaina on April 10, 1974, and recorded in the Salt Lake County Recorder's Office on April 18, 1974, and since that date have remained the property of the Trusts. The Personal Representative Deeds which the Court of Appeals declared void were filed in 1997. Even if it was determined that the issue of the statute of limitations was not a moot issue, Plaintiffs would have the right to quiet title to their Trust properties by an action to remove the stale claim of Appellants who had filed the void Personal Representative Deeds.

In quiet title actions, the discovery of a stale claim is not made until a title report is acquired by the fee owner, and in most instances those stale claims have been in existence for more than four years. A time limit on clearing title by way of a quiet title action would render property unmarketable if the apparent or stale claims could not be removed.

The claim could then be made that if someone filed a void deed against the property of another and that deed remained against the property for longer than four years, the void deed

could not be removed by a Quiet Title action, and the person filing the void deed could make some claim to the property, which of course would be contrary to law and public policy.

There is also the issue of the discovery rule and the argument by both the majority opinion and the dissent and concurrence of the Honorable Norman H. Jackson as to when the statute of limitations commenced to run as to Plaintiffs' causes of action, with the majority opinion stating as to Plaintiffs' claims:

A fact finder could certainly determine that Plaintiffs acted reasonably in not bringing suit within the applicable statute of limitations. Nolan v. Hoopiaina, 2005 UT App 272, ¶24.

The dissent and concurring opinion of Justice Jackson provided:

III Tolling of Limitations Period. 2005 UT App 272, ¶¶ 32 and 33.

I also take issue with both the trial court and the main opinion because Nolan was not Gatlin's agent, and her actions and knowledge should not be imputed to Gatlin.

Further, the main opinion remands to the trial court to weigh the reasonableness of the Plaintiffs' conduct in light of the Defendants' steps to conceal the cause of action. Because the trial court stated that it had considered the discovery rule, I would more specifically outline what factors the trial court did not but should consider. Specifically, the trial court should "apply a balancing test" to determine when "a rigid application of the statute . . . [will] be irrational and unjust." Snow v. Rudd, 2000 UT 20, paragraph 11, 998 P.2d 262 (quotations and citation omitted). This test "weigh[s] the hardship imposed on the claimant[s] . . . against any prejudice to the defendant resulting from the passage of time." Id. (quotations and citation omitted). In this balance, the trial court should consider that (1) the Defendants never had any legal or equitable claim to the trust properties where as Nolan and Gatlin had both, (2) Nolan did take some action, (3) Cuma's agent Fadel misled Nolan and Gatlin, and (4) "the close familial relationship[s] involved" may have affected the parties actions. Id. at paragraph 11; see also Walker v. Walker, 17 Utah 2d 53, 404 P.2d 253, 257 (1965); Acott v. Tomlinson, 9 Utah 2d 71, 337 P.2d 720, 724 (1959).

In their brief, Appellants claim that the statute of limitations should be applied in quiet title actions. The Court of Appeals ruled that Plaintiffs, as beneficiaries of the Trust, had been the owners of the two properties at the time Michelle Samantha Gatlin Nolan turned 21 years of age. Nolan v. Hoopiaina, 2005 UT App 272, ¶13. Michelle Samantha Gatlin Nolan filed a Petition to be appointed Successor Trustee immediately upon discovering that the Trusts were in existence. Plaintiffs immediately commenced this action when Plaintiffs discovered that Defendant, Cuma Hoopiaina, had filed with the Salt Lake County Recorder two Personal Representative Deeds attempting to convey the property to herself and her son. Cuma Hoopiaina later filed a Lis Pendens against each of the properties when she discovered the Trusts were the fee owners of the properties. The principal purpose of the action commenced by Plaintiffs as fee owners of the trust property was to remove the void Personal Representative Deeds and Lis Pendens filed by Appellants.

Appellants rely on the case of Branting v. Salt Lake City, Utah, 153 P. 995, 1001 (1915). This case has no precedential value in the instant case. The Branting case is a case wherein Salt Lake City assessed various adjoining properties for the construction of a sewer line. One of the defenses to that assessment was a quiet title action to have the assessment removed. The Court ruled:

We are very clearly of the opinion that, while actions by which nothing is sought except to remove a cloud from or to quiet title to real property as against apparent or stale claims are not barred by the statute of limitations, yet we are also clear that all actions in which the principal purpose is to obtain some affirmative relief as was the case here, clearly come within the provisions of Section 2883.

One of the remaining causes of action in Plaintiffs' Complaint was for an accounting of money collected by Defendants after the death of Malualani Hoopiiaina which is a six year statute of limitations "for the Mesne profits of real property." Utah Code Ann. §78-12-23(1) (1995).

The last cause of action was for return of personal property in the Trusts or compensation for other trust assets as set forth in the Trust Agreement which were sold and would likewise not be subject to the statute of limitations or, in the alternative, based upon the discovery rule the statute of limitations commenced from the date Plaintiffs had knowledge that they were beneficiaries of the Trusts in August 2002.

The cases set forth by Appellants in their argument have no precedential relevance to the action before the Court. The matter before the Court involves two Irrevocable Trusts wherein two pieces of property were conveyed by Settlor to the Trust, with Plaintiffs being the beneficiaries of the Trust.

In Davidson v. Salt Lake City, 81 P.2d 374, 377 (1938), Plaintiff was attempting to set aside a deed from Plaintiff to Salt Lake City, and by reason of cancellation of the deed to quiet title in Plaintiffs, the Court ruled:

Actions by which nothing is sought, except to remove a cloud from or to quiet the title to reality as against apparent or stale claims, are not barred by the statute of limitations, but the statute does apply to actions in which the principal purpose is to obtain some affirmative relief. Comp.Laws 1917, §§ 6449, 6450, 6468, subd. 4.1. (Emphasis added).

All other cases set forth by Appellants have no relevance to the statute of limitations on quiet title actions. There is no question that the Court of Appeals ruled properly that the principal purpose of Plaintiffs' action was to void the Personal Representatives' Deeds and Lis Pendens

which had been filed with the Salt Lake County Recorder's Office which slandered the title of Plaintiffs' trust properties.

The only applicable statute of limitations would be the following:

1. Utah Code Ann. §75-3-1005 which sets forth a statute of limitations as against Personal Representatives of six (6) months after closing of an estate.
2. Utah Code Ann. §75-7-307 which sets forth a six month statute as against Trustees after beneficiaries have received a final accounting of the Trust.
3. Utah Code Ann. §78-12-23 within six years for an action on Mesne profits of real property.

None of the above statute of limitations has expired.

**THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY RULED
THAT THE TRUSTEE OF AN IRREVOCABLE TRUST
CANNOT BREACH THE TRUST.**

In responding to Appellants' Petition for Certiorari, the Supreme Court granted Certiorari on one issue only, to-wit: whether Respondent's quiet title action may be subject to a statute of limitations. Based on that fact, Respondents do not need to respond to this issue which certainly appears to be an improper addition to Appellants' brief.

Respondent would refer the Supreme Court to Plaintiffs' Statement of the Case and Argument in this brief, the ruling by the Court of Appeals, Respondents' original appeal, and Respondents' Brief in Opposition to the Appellants' Writ of Certiorari.

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the two Trusts were valid and irrevocable and that Malualani Hoopiaina had no power to revoke the Trusts and could deal with the Trust assets only as provided in the Trust instrument. The Court further correctly ruled that Malualani